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QUESTIONS AND ANSWERS

RFP NHDOC 13-01-GFMED

MHM

Question 1. 5  10.1.1  The RFP instructions require vendors to sign and initial each page “as 
appropriate.” Not all of the required forms provided online have a page number 
and/or  “Vendor Initials:” spaces provided. Are vendors to print their own page 
numbers on each form and initial each page of the forms? 

Answer 1. Vendors shall not print their own page numbers on each form.  Please refer 
to NHDOC 13-01-GFMED, Addendum # 1. 

Vendors shall be required to initial each page of any form provided online. 

Question 2. 5  10.1.1  If submitting attachments in an appendix to accompany a vendors’ 
proposal response (e.g. resumes, job descriptions, quality assurance plan, etc.), are 
vendors required to initial each page of the appendix? 

Answer 2. Yes, Vendors are required to initial any additional pages of information 
provided in their appendix for their RFP bid response. 

Question 3. 7  10.2.3  Please clarify that the sum total of narrative writing related to the 
delivery of clinical services is limited to the Program Structure/Plan of Operation 
Narrative contained within the Cover Letter which is not to exceed 5 pages. 

Answer 3. The Program Structure/Plan of Operation Narrative shall not exceed five (5) 
pages.
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Question 4. 7  10.2.3  Please clarify that the resumes for staff and job descriptions expected 
for inclusion in the Program Structure/Plan of Operation Narrative should be 
included as an  attachment and will not be considered as part of the 5-page limit. 

Answer 4. The resumes (redact all personal information) for staff and job descriptions 
(program staff list) are in addition to and supplement the Program 
Structure/Plan of Operation Narrative.  They are not inclusive of the five (5) 
page Program Structure/Plan of Operation Narrative. 

Question 5. 7  10.2.3  Please clarify that the quality assurance plan and outline of the staff 
evaluation process expected for inclusion in the Program Structure/Plan of 
Operation Narrative should be included as an attachment and will not be 
considered as part of the 5-page limit. 

Answer 5. The quality assurance plan and outline of the staff evaluation process are in 
addition to and supplement the Program Structure/Plan of Operation 
Narrative.  They are not inclusive of the five (5) page Program 
Structure/Plan of Operation Narrative. 

Question 6. 8  10.4.5  The RFP states that pages should be numbered. Should vendors insert 
their own page numbers onto the NHDOC’s required forms if the forms are not 
numbered?  Should vendors use their own page numbers on pages of the RFP and 
forms that are  already numbered? 

Answer 6. No, Vendors shall not insert their own page numbers onto the NH 
Department of Corrections required forms if the forms are not numbered for 
their bid response.

No, Vendors shall not use their own page numbers on pages of the RFP and 
forms that are already numbered. 

Please refer to NHDOC 13-01-GFMED, Addendum # 1. 

Question 7(a). 17 Proposal Checklist:  Under the 6th main bullet, there is reference to a 
Program Narrative. This is understood to be uniquely different from the 3rd sub-
bullet (Program Structure/Plan of Operation Narrative) under the 3rd main bullet 
(Cover Letter).   

Answer 7(a). The sixth (6th) main bullet Program Narrative of the Proposal Checklist shall 
be eliminated as a requirement of the Vendor’s RFP bid response. 

Question 7(b). Please clarify what is expected to be included in the Program Narrative and 
whether or not there is a page limit to this content. 

Answer 7(b). Nothing; refer to answer 7 (a). 
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Question 8. 17  Proposal Checklist:  Please confirm that the Department does not want 
vendors to include 25 narrative responses to each of the 25 items in the Scope of 
Services and that any narrative responses relating to the Scope of Services, 
Exhibit A should be included within the Agency Capacity and Program 
Structure/Plan of Operation Narrative sections. 

Answer 8. The Department requests Vendors to incorporate responses to the 25 items 
within their response.  This is separate from the 5 page requirement. 

Question 9. 17  Proposal Checklist:  The bottom right corner of the proposal checklist 
provides an area for the vendor to initial within the footer; however, the proposal 
checklist is not listed as a required RFP document to be returned with the 
proposal. Please confirm if vendors are to submit the proposal check list with its 
proposal and if so, where? 

Answer 9. An initialed (by contract signatory) Proposal Checklist is a required 
document to be submitted with the Vendor’s RFP bid response and shall be 
inserted after the Cover Page and before the Proposal Cover Sheet. 

Question 10. 17  Proposal Checklist:  The proposal check sheet lists Form B-1 as page 33 and 
Forms B-2 & B-3 as pages 34-36. Please confirm that the RFP is referring to 
Form B-1 on page 34 and Forms B-2 & B-3 on pages 35-37. 

Answer 10. Exhibit B-1 is page 34, Exhibit B-2 is page 35, Exhibit B-3 is page 36 & 37 
and Exhibit B-4 is page 38.

GEO CARE 

Question 11(a). 1. p. 2, Section A, 3.1.2 
 “The SPU requests psychiatric services for treatment of non-adjudicated and 
adjudicated individuals who are civilly committed under all applicable State 
Statutes including the Sexually Violent Predator law RSA 135-E or not guilty 
by reason of insanity and who are too dangerous to reside at the New 
Hampshire Hospital.”  Please specify if the services requested are sex offender 
specific treatment services or general psychiatric services? 

Answer 11(a). The services required in the Secure Psychiatric Unit are inclusive of the 
services in question above but not exclusive to.  Service needs are based 
on the individual patients treatment needs.

Question 11(b). Additionally, how many Sexually Violent Predators are currently housed on 
the SPU and what is the projected census for this population for each year of 
the contract?  
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Answer 11(b). Currently there is one SVP patient housed at the SPU.  Since 2007, there 
have been two patients civilly committed under the SVP RSA 135-E. 

Question 12(a). 1. p. 2, Section A, 3.2.1

The Contractor is required to provide On-Call Psychiatric Services for all 
sites.  Please provide any available volume or frequency data for utilization of 
this service for each of the past  two years, e.g. the number of calls per month 
broken down by facility and occurring on week nights, weekends, or holidays 
and the number requiring travel to the site?  

Answer 12(a). We do not track at this time the number of on-call service contacts made.
Services must be provided as requested and stated in the RFP with the 
possibility of travel to the site. 

Question 12(b). Additionally, will NHDOC consider a proposal for telepsychiatry, e.g. use of 
a camera equipped iPad with Wi-Fi capability at the facility and by on-call 
psychiatry staff, to reduce the number of occasions requiring travel to the 
inquiring site as required to provide on-call or emergency services?  

Answer 12(b). You may add this to your response but must respond to and provide the 
requested  service as stated in the RFP. 

Question 13. 1. p. 2, Section A, 3.3.1

In the last sentence of this paragraph, it says, “…and to provide individual and 
group therapies in synchronicity with non-vendor clinical staff.”  Please 
provide information about what services are provided by any non-vendor 
clinical staff including the job titles, number of FTEs and the facilities at 
which the services and staff are located.   Additionally, please indicate whether 
these non-vendor clinical staff are NHDOC employees or employees of 
another vendor.

Answer 13. The Department is requesting a Vendor to provide the staffing as 
indicated in Exhibit A 5.4 page 22 of 39.  The amount of state staff or 
other contracted community staff does not affect the needs requested in 
this RFP. 

Question 14. 1. pp. 2-3, Section A, 3.4 

Please provide information regarding the frequency and length of the training 
sessions and total number of classes on an annual basis required for security 
staff on the units?  Additionally, if a specific training model or program is 
being used, please provide the name of the model or program.  
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Answer 14. The Department is required under the Holliday Court order and court 
agreements to provide quarterly trainings for all three shifts for our 
maximum-security unit, closed custody unit, and reception and diagnostic 
unit annually.  The Trainer provides training at our Correctional 
Academy on suicidality and the Department’s policy on suicide 
prevention and intervention as these are scheduled. The length of the 
training is dependent on the topic and subject matter.  The current 
models used vary in content and are generally currently crafted by our 
current Vendor. 

Question 15. 1. p. 3, Section A, 3.5.1

This paragraph says in part, “Provide and offer to address evidence-based 
practices,  psychiatric services, specified services for a female wellness 
block…”  Please define and describe the female wellness block.

Answer 15.  
A Mental Health / Clinical Wellness Block at the NHSP-
Women

The mental health department has developed a block that provides extensive, 
appropriate mental health services to women inmates living with mental 
illness utilizing existing resources. The development of this “block” design 
has required classifications, security and mental heath staff to communicate 
regarding individuals who are appropriate to be moved to this block to take 
advantage of services.

A significant portion of the female inmate population currently receive mental 
health services. Combining individuals who currently receive support in one 
location allows our department to increase services and contact with the 
population that is most in need.  The mental health department provides daily 
Mon-Fri visits to the block and offers clinical work shops, medication 
awareness and support teams. 

Question 16(a) 1. p. 3, Section A, 3.6.1

The Contractor will be required to provide court appointed forensic evaluation 
services.   Please provide for the past two years data regarding this service 
including number of cases per year, the number of times a Vendor employee 
has been required to provide court testimony and the average total time per 
hearing involved.



 

Answer 16(a).

FORENSIC EXAMINER
ANNUAL COMPARISON REPORT

COMPLETED  COMPETENCY  EVALUATIONS

Year JAN FEB MAR APR MAY JUN JUL AUG SEP OCT NOV DEC Total
2003 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 12 24 14 16 19 8
2004 19 17 22 24 20 11 18 17 11 16 16 22 213
2005 17 14 15 19 14 19 17 16 11 12 11 18 183
2006 17 31 32 26 17 20 19 16 15 21 21 25 260
2007 28 18 24 19 14 23 25 15 28 22 32 12 260
2008 17 27 14 27 26 34 27 28 28 25 26 11 290
2009 18 22 26 31 28 35 16 19 30 30 23 27 305
2010 31 23 44 28 13 17 24 24 21 34 19 32 310
2011 35 25 31 20 27 31 25 35 27 32 25 13 326
2012 25 29 24 20 37 26 20 27 28 32 27 18 313

5

The current staff spend significant time testifying in court as well as 
interviewing, writing reports, and liaison with attorneys at all levels.  
These employees travel throughout the State of NH.  We do not currently 
track all of this time nor do we time the court hearings in the State of NH. 

Question 16(b). Additionally, is there video conferencing capability with any of the courts 
court testimony to be provided remotely? 

Answer 16(b). The Department is not aware of the multiple courts in the State video 
conferencing capabilities. 

Question 17. 1. p. 3, Section A, 3.7.1

The Contractor is asked to provide a psychiatric nurse to support the 
management of the chronic pain clinic to best address the addiction issues 
related to treatment of this complex population.  Which facility/ies provide 
this chronic pain clinic? How many inmates are currently being treated in the 
chronic pain clinic?  Is this psychiatric nurse position expected to be devoted 
full-time to the clinic or may other duties be assigned?  

Answer 17. Pain management services are provided at all sites.  There are 
approximately 137 inmates enrolled in the pain management program.  
The pain management RN is primarily assigned to the clinic but does do 
other duties as assigned, i.e. some QI functions. 

Question 18. 1. p. 3, Section A, 3.8.1

This paragraph says in part, “..specifically monitor our compliance with the 
Holliday Court Order Decree and Laaman Decree.”  Is the NHDOC currently 
in full compliance with the Holiday Court Order and Laaman Decree?  Have 
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any portions of these orders/decrees not been enforced and if so, which 
requirements?   

Answer 18. The Division is in full compliance with the Laaman Decree. 

The Division has successfully achieved full compliance with the Holliday 
Court Order in several areas and continues to monitor areas such as 
medication delays to maintain full compliance.

Question 19. 1. p. 3, Section A, 3.8.1

With respect to performance measures, it says, “Such QIM will be consistent 
to  appropriate accrediting agencies…”  Please clarify the meaning of this 
language, e.g. is  the Contractor expected to seek and obtain accreditation by 
such agencies or is the Contractor expected to perform services in a manner 
that would meet the standards of  such agencies?  Are any NHDOC facilities 
currently accredited by any outside agency and if so which facility and by 
what agency?  

Answer 19. The vendor is expected to perform services in a manner that would meet 
the standards of the accreditation agencies listed as examples.  The 
NHDOC is not currently credentialed by any outside agency. 

Question 20. 1. p. 3, Section A, 3.8

Please provide a copy of the quality improvement measure reports or related 
documents for each of the past three years applicable to each of the following? 
(DM)

� Compliance with the Holliday Court Order or Laaman Decree 
� Quarterly reports prepared by the vendor 
� Performance in the areas described within 3.81, a-c as listed on pp. 3-4 

Answer 20. All QI documentation is protected as privileged under NH law (RSA 151) 
and will not be provided in response to this RFP.  Please refer to pages 
26-28, Sections 13.1.2-13.12.8 for specific examples of QI measures and 
descriptions.

Question 21. 1. p. 4, Section A, 3.9.1

Regarding the responsibility to oversee all NGRI acquittees for the past two 
years, what is the average number of inmates of this type receiving services?  
Is this number expected to increase or decrease during the term of the 
contract?  
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Answer 21. The individuals civilly committed as not guilty by reason of insanity are 
not inmates they are patients at varying levels of privilege within the 
State’s mental health system.  We currently have 29 patients being 
monitored throughout the State.  The number committed under this 
statute is unpredictable but due to the nature of the commitment it will 
likely gradually increase over the years. 

Question 22. 1. p. 5, Section A, 5.

Will NHDOC provide an opportunity for Vendor tours and if so, could this be 
scheduled  prior to the Vendor Conference? 

Answer 22. We do not see the need to tour the facilities in order to meet the needs or 
respond to the content of the RFP. Our facilities have office space and 
the physical plant necessary to accommodate the staffing request. 

Question 23. 1. pp. 5-6, Section A, 10.1.1

This paragraph states, “The original copies shall be typed or clearly printed in 
black ink.”  It is the DOC’s intention for proposals to use only black ink, or 
may proposals include other colors as well (i.e., graphics, charts, section 
headings, etc.) to improve overall readability?  

Answer 23. Original copies shall be typed or clearly printed in black ink – NO colors; 
initialed documents must be in blue ink.

Question 24. 1. p. 6, Section A, 10.1.5

This section indicates that proposals must be sealed. Please clarify if it is 
expected that each of the required copies specified be sealed in its own 
separate envelope or packaging or if all originals, copies, and electronic may 
be included in a single box?

Answer 24. If separate envelopes are used for the Vendor’s bid submission all 
envelopes must be sealed.  If one box or boxes are used for the Vendor’s 
bid submission, then the box or boxes must be sealed. 

Question 25. 1. p. 6, Section A, 10.2.2

This paragraph indicates that the description Agency Capacity is limited to 5 
pages.  Will NHDOC consider increasing the number of allowable pages for 
this narrative?  

Answer 25. The Agency Capacity narrative shall not exceed five (5) pages. 
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Question 26. 2. p. 7, Section A, 10.2.3a.

Please specify which positions are considered “proposed staff”?  Is this related 
to key management only?  If not, please note that is extremely rare for an 
agency to ask for  resumes of all proposed staff, particularly given the clear 
disadvantage that this would place on vendors competing against the 
incumbent and how this could discourage responses.  Additionally, it is very 
common for new vendors to hire nearly all of an existing vendor’s staff so 
assigning additional point to a vendor for providing resumes of  all staff may 
not result in better quality for NHDOC.

Answer 26. The requirement in 10.2.3.a is very clear.  For every requested position 
provide a  resume with personal information redacted if your 
organization currently has an employee who would be employed as part 
of this contract.  For requested positions where you do not have an 
incumbent, provide your job description for that position. 

Question 27. 1. p. 7, Section A, 10.2.3.b.

This section calls for a quality assurance plan. Similarly, there are requests for 
other exhibits (organizational chart, letters of support, etc.) elsewhere in the 
RFP document.  Please confirm that a Vendor may include exhibits without 
counting against the prescribed page limits. 

Answer 27. No, the exhibit within your appendices will not count against the 
prescribed page limits. 

Question 28. 1. p. 7, Section A, 10.2.5

Regarding financial statement, it says, “Acceptable financial verification shall 
include one (1) of the following, checked off below, to be submitted with your 
Proposal.”  A table listing two options follows the statement.  For the purpose 
of satisfying this requirement, is the intent that the Contractor check one of the 
two boxes on the required copy of “Initialed Exhibit A” submitted as part of 
its proposal to satisfy this requirement?   

Answer 28. Yes, it shall be the intent of the Contractor to check off one of the two 
boxes on the required copy of “Initialed Exhibit A” submitted as part of 
it’s proposal. 

Question 29. 1. p. 8, 10.4.5

This paragraph says “Each page shall have the organization’s name in the 
upper right hand corner except for the following documents: P-37, Certificate 
of Authority, Certificate of Good Standing and Certificate of Insurance. Pages 
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shall be numbered.  Footers may be used for numbering pages and identifying 
sections.” which appears to be in conflict with paragraph 12 at the bottom of 
the same page which says in part, “It is unlawful to make any alterations to the 
text or format of this document…”  Please confirm that vendors are allowed to 
alter the format of RFP documents by adding headers and footers to provide 
information such as organization name, page number, section numbers, etc.  
Also, please confirm that vendors may use Adobe to fill out mandatory forms 
rather than filling them out by hand.  

Answer 29. No, a potential Vendor SHALL NOT alter the format of the RFP 
documents and shall not add Headers and Footers to provide information 
such as organization name, page number, section numbers, etc.  This 
requirement shall be eliminated as a requirement of the RFP bid 
response.  Please refer to NHDOC 13-01-GFMED, Addendum # 1. 

Question 30. 1. p. 12, Section A, 33.2

This paragraph indicates that scoring of proposals will be an Evaluation Team.  
Will NHDOC please provide a list of Team Members and job titles of these 
individuals?

Answer 30. The members of the Evaluation Team have not yet been determined at 
this time. 

Question 31. 1. p. 12, Section A, 33.3

This paragraph references a “consensus score sheet” that will be used to 
designate the score for each proposal.  Will NHDOC please provide a copy of 
this score sheet and any other documents/tools that will be a part of the 
evaluation methodology?  

Answer 31. A “consensus score sheet” will be defined as found in the Request for 
Proposals (RFP), Terms and Conditions, Section 34. Scoring of 
Evaluation Criteria.
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Question 32. 1. p. 13, Section A, 34.

Will NHDOC Please provide a matrix that aligns the scoring categories to 
specific sections of the RFP to clarify the scoring methodology?  For example: 

Scoring Category RFP Section

34.1.1.1.   Compensation : (15 points) Exhibit B, Section 2 

34.1.3.1.   Program Performance Measures and Reporting: (10 
points) Exhibit A, Section 13.12 

34.1.3.2.   On-going Peer Review: (3 points) Exhibit A, Section 13.12.3.c. 

34.1.4.4.   Demonstrated History of Budget Reduction to 
Contracted Partners Without Jeopardizing Care: (5 
points) 

RFP, Section 10.2.2.c 

34.1.5.   Financial Stability: (5 Points) 
RFP, Section 

10.2.5

34.1.6.   Qualitative References: (5 Points) RFP, Section 
10.2.6

Answer 32. A matrix that aligns the scoring categories to specific sections of the RFP 
will be defined as found in the Request for Proposals (RFP), Terms and 
Conditions, Section 34. Scoring of Evaluation Criteria. 

Question 33.  1.p. 13, Section A, 34.1.1.1

 Compensation is identified as having a potential score of 15 points.  Will 
NHDOC  please clarify how points are allotted for compensation?  Will 
vendors be awarded a higher score for higher or lower compensation costs or 
is the score determined by some other method, e.g. awarding more points to a 
vendor whose compensation costs constitute a higher percentage of total cost?  

Answer 33. Vendors will be awarded points for compensation as indicated in the 
Scoring of Evaluation Criteria. 

Question 34. 1. p. 13, 34.1.2.1

This paragraph indicates a score of 10 points available for Seamless & 
Immediate Service Availability.  Will NHDOC please confirm that the 
vendors who have a proven track record of seamless, on-time transitions will 
be able to qualify for the full 10 points?  
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Answer 34. Vendors will be evaluated on how they demonstrate their ability to 
provide a Seamless & Immediate Service Availability as found in the 
Request for Proposals (RFP), Terms and Conditions, Section 34. Scoring 
of Evaluation Criteria.

Question 35. 1. p. 13, 34.1.2.2 

This paragraph indicates a score of 7 points for Recruitment Potential.  Will
NHDOC please confirm that the vendors who have a proven track record of 
recruitment will be able to qualify for the full 7 points?  

Answer 35. Vendors will be evaluated on how they demonstrate their ability for 
Recruitment Potential as found in the Request for Proposals (RFP), 
Terms and Conditions, Section 34. Scoring of Evaluation Criteria.   

Question 36. 1. p. 17, Section A, Proposal Check Sheet

The third check off box is for the Cover Letter with three bullets—Executive 
Summary,  Agency Capacity, and Program Structure/Plan of Operation—
which are discussed earlier in 10.2.1 through 10.2.3 on pages 6 and 7.  Is the 
expectation that all three topics be addressed in such a letter or are they to be 
presented as an attachment to a cover letter?  

Answer 36. It is the expectation that all three topics, summarized, be addressed in a 
Cover Letter with the required Executive Summary (not to exceed two (2) 
pages), Agency Capacity (not to exceed five (5) pages) and Program 
Structure/Plan of Operation Narrative (not to exceed five (5) pages) to 
follow. 

Question 37. 1. p. 17, Section A, Proposal Check Sheet

The sixth check off box is the Program Narrative, which is not discussed 
elsewhere in the RFP document.  Are there any guidelines on content or 
length of this document?   How does it differ from the Program Structure/Plan 
of Operation Narrative or the Budget Narrative?  

Answer 37. Refer to answer 7 (a).

Question 38. 1. p. 20, Section B, 3

Understanding that security concerns may limit the specificity of available 
documentation, please provide floor plans for all locations.

Answer 38. The request in this proposal does not indicate the need for floor plans as 
previously indicated we have office spaces to accommodate the staffing 



 

positions requested further floor plans are considered confidential 
documents to ensure safety and security and will not be provided to 
external parties. 

Question 39(a). 1. p. 20, Section B, 4.

The chart provided reports a current population of 76 for the SPU and RTU 
combined as of 1/30/13.  What is the split between the SPU and RTU?  Will 
NHDOC provide a report  providing the average population of these two units 
separately for the past 24 months?  

Answer 39(a). See http://www.nh.gov/nhdoc/divisons/publicinformation/index.html and
reference  annual reports for statistical data available regarding 
populations and census  information.

Question 39(b). Also with respect to this chart, will NHDOC provide a report of utilization of 
outpatient  mental health services by facility listed to include the number of 
inmates by types of services received?  

Answer 39(b). The Department is not seeking a Vendor to provide an alternative 
staffing pattern but to respond to the request for staffing in the RFP as it 
meets our service needs and anticipated future needs.  This data is not 
necessary to respond to the RFP. 

Question 39(c). What has been the average number of inmates taking prescribed psychotropic 
medications over the past two years? Additionally, please provide the number 
of inmates  taking psychotropic medications broken down by facility and by 
Treatment Services Section.    

Answer 39(c). Picture of Services as of 11/27/2012

TP Psy 
Med Pts 

Each 
Provider

Facility Facility 
Population

% of Facility 
Population - 
Psychiatric 

Client
128 NCF 646 20%

330 NHSP-M 1422 23%

60 NHSP-W 122 49%

37 SPU/RTU 71 52%
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Question 40(a). 1. p. 22, Section B, 5.4

Is the number and types of positions listed in this chart the same as required of 
the current Contractor?  If not, please provide a chart listing the current 
number and types of required positions?  

Answer 40(a). Yes.

Question 40(b). With respect to the required positions listed in the chart provided, are all such 
positions currently filled?  If not, which ones were vacant on February 1, 
2013, or have been vacant over the past two years and what is or was the 
duration of the vacancies?  

Answer 40(b). The only position vacant is the QI position.

Question 40(c). Please confirm that NHDOC will provide office space for the use all positions 
specified in performance of their duties?  If not, for which positions be 
required to provide office  space?  

Answer 40(c). Office space will be provided.

Question 40(d). Is the Chief Forensic Evaluator specified on this chart a Psychologist or 
Psychiatrist?

Answer 40(d). This position is a psychiatrist. 

Question 41. 1.  pp. 22-23, Section B, 6.1-6.6

The numbering of the sub-points jumps from 6.3 to 6.5 although the content 
beginning  with 6.3 and running through the end of the material labeled as 6.5 
all appear to relate to the discussion of the Chief Psychiatrist’s 
responsibilities.  Please clarify the numbering  and/or content for these 
paragraphs?  

Answer 41. This is a numbering error. 

Question 42. 1. p. 22, 6.3

This paragraph identifies duties of the Chief Psychiatrist.  Will NHDOC 
please confirm that this position is the position identified on the chart in 
paragraph 5.4 as Chief Psychiatric Medical Director?  If not, please clarify 
which of the other Psychiatrist positions listed on this chart is expected to 
perform the required duties.  



 

Answer 42. Chief Psychiatrist is the position identified on the chart as Chief 
Psychiatric Medical Director. 

Question 43. 1. p. 24, Section B, 9.3

The wording for 9.3 appears to be a continuation of 9.2 from the preceding 
page and/or some content was omitted.  Will NHDOC please clarify the 
wording and intent on this page?  

Answer 43. The numerical value of 9.3 s is a numbering error. 

Question 44. 1. p. 26, Section B, 13.10

Please provide copies of all reports for the past two years provided by the 
Contractor to satisfy the requirements outlined?  

Answer 44. Sample provided below: 

1593 Spring Hill Road, Suite 610
Vienna, Virginia   22182

Invoice Date: 1/31/2013
Invoice Number: NH-January 13

INVOICE TO: INVOICE FROM:
New Hampshire Department of Corrections MHM Correctional Services, Inc.
Attn: Helen Hanks, Director of Medical & Forensic Services 1593 Spring Hill Ro d, Suite 610a

Vienna,  VA  22182PO Box 1806
Concord, NH 03302 (703)-749-4600 or (800)-416-3649

FedTax ID: 54-1856340

   Fixed Monthly Rate xxx,xxx.xx$
(1/12th of $x,xxx,xxx.00 - July 2012 thru June 2013)

Total Due MHM Correctional Services, Inc. xxx,xxx.xx$

For Services rendered 1/1/13 through 1/31/13 for the New Hampshire Department of Corrections

Promoting Public Safety through Integrity, Respect, Professionalism, Accountability and Collaboration 

State of NH, Department of Corrections                      RFP 13-01-GFMED, closing date: 3/29/2013 
Division of Medical and Forensic Services 

Vendor Initials: _______
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If you want further data, please submit a Right to Know Request to Jeff 
Lyons our Public Information Officer. 

Question 45. 1 p. 26, Section B, 13.11 

Please provide copies of reports for the past two years related to the 
Department’s evaluation of the current Contractor?

Answer 45. These evaluations are conducted as Quality Improvement evaluations to 
ensure the rights of our licensed and other clinical staff involved are 
protected as we review all areas of our work. 

Question 46. 1p. 26, Section B, 13.12

Please provide a list of all Quality Improvement Measures (QIM) to include a 
description or definition of each being measured and evaluated under the 
current contract and copies of reports for each of the past two years related to 
the current Contractor and the stated performance measures?   

Answer 46. QI data is protected and privileged information under NH law and will 
not be provided.  See pages 26-28, Section 13.11-13.12.8 for descriptions 
of required quality improvement measures. 

Question 47. 1 p. 27, Section B, 13.12.3

Paragraph 13.12.3 is repeated on this page. Please clarify whether the 2nd

paragraph  should be numbered as 13.12.4 which would result in renumbering 
of paragraphs 13.12.4 through 13.12.8 which would then become 13.12.5 
through 13.12.9?  

Answer 47. Yes, the 2nd paragraph should be numbered as 13.12.4 which would result 
in renumbering of paragraphs 13.12.4 through 13.12.8 which would then 
become 13.12.5 through 13.12.9. 

Question 48. 1 p. 29, Section B, 13.14.1

The Contractor will be required to provide a list of research opportunities 
upon commencement of the contract and annually thereafter on July 1st.  Will 
the contractor be required to provide a specific number of opportunities that 
must be presented?  Will  NHDOC indicate what areas of research have been 
pursued over the past four (4) years under this requirement?  

Answer 48. The Vendor will not be required to provide a specific number of 
opportunities and the current research is vetted through our State 
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Director of Research focusing mostly on recidivism that can be found on 
our website. 

Question 49. 1 p. 29, Section B, 13.14.2

This paragraph refers to Contractor requirements in the event that the 
responsibility for  forensic evaluation services is transferred to another state 
agency.  Does NHDOC foresee such a transfer of responsibility at any time 
during the proposed term of this contract?  If so, when?

Answer 49. Such transfer would be at the discretion of the legislative process and is 
not anticipated at this time.   

Question 50. 1 p. 30-31, Section B, 21

The numbering of sub paragraphs listed as 20.1 through 20.4.  Please confirm 
that this is  in error and that they should be numbered 21.1 through 21.4. 

Answer 50. This is a numbering error. 

Question 51. 1.  p. 38, Section C, 5.

Is the amount claimed on each monthly invoice set at one twelfth of the 
annual value of the contract?  If not, how is the amount to be billed 
determined?  

Answer 51. Yes.

Below are general questions regarding the RFP that do not have a specific page reference. 

Question 52. While understanding the sensitive nature of certain information about 
correctional facilities, it would be helpful if NHDOC would provide a 
description of and/or floor plans of the space(s) available for use in each 
facility to provide the required services to

� Office space for Contractor staff?
� The programming space on the RTU?
� The programming space on the SPU?
� Other, if any?  

Answer 52. See response to #38. 

Question 53. Is there a requirement for any specific psychological testing at intake?  If so, 
who administers such tests and within what timeframe?   
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Answer 53. See PPD 6.05 Mental Health Services at :
http://www.nh.gov/nhdoc/ppd.html.

Question 54. Are SSRI’s or anti-androgen medications currently used with the sex offender 
population? If so, how many inmates are currently receiving such 
medications?  

Answer 54. SSRI’s and/or anti-androgen medications are not currently utilized in the 
SOT population to decrease libido but have been utilized on rare 
occasion.  SSRI’s are utilized to meet mental health needs of this 
population for depression and anxiety and prescribing providers follow 
our prescription Formulary. 

�

Question 55. Will NHDOC please confirm that Contractor employees will be provided 
access to NHDOC telephone and communication networks in support of their 
required duties? If so, please describe.   

Answer 55. All necessary telephone and computer access networks will be provided to 
the Vendor. 

�
Question 56. Are there any provisions for assessment of penalties to the Contractor and if 

so,  please describe?   

Answer 56. See page 28 of 39 Section 13.12.6-13.12.8, page 29 of 39 Section 14.1-
14.1.1, page 29 of 39 Section 15.1-15.2, page 30 of 39 Section 17.1-17.4. 

�

Question 57. Please provide a summary of the top five diagnoses for inmates receiving 
services?  

Answer 57. It is unclear if you are referencing psychiatric and/or medical diagnoses. 
�

Question 58.� Please provide a five year history of the percent of inmates receiving 
psychiatric services?  

Answer 58. The Department has seen an average of @ 30% of the male population 
using psychiatric services while female average @ 50% with a high of 
70% over the last 5 years.  See annual reports on web page for population 
evaluation.

Question 59. Please provide the total amount spent annually on psychiatric medications for 
inmates over the past three years broken down by facility?  
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Answer 59. This is not relevant to the RFP request for staffing.  All staff hired will be 
required to follow our medication formulary. 

�

Question 60. Please provide any information available on salaries for current mental health 
staff?  

Answer 60. Salary and job descriptions for state employees are available at
http://admin.state.nh.us/hr/comp.html .

�

Question 61. Will NHDOC please provide the average length of stay for persons released 
from the SPU and RTU during each of the past two years?  

Answer 61. The average length of stay for an RTU inmate has been consistently 120 
days for the last 2 years.  The average length of stay for SPU patients is 
skewed based on the milieu of mixed civil commitment status thus not 
predictable or indicative of staffing needs. 

Question 62. Will NHDOC please provide the average number of days required to restore 
competency for forensically committed patients for each of the past three 
years? 

Answer 62. The Secure Psychiatric Unit is not the primary restoration facility and 
pursuant to NH law any facility has only 12 months from the date of 
finding of incompetence to attain restoration – see NH Law regarding 
competency for further details. 

�
Question 63.  May vendors contact staff employed by the current Contractor?  

Answer 63.  No, please contact MHM to seek authorization as this is outside the 
authority  of the NH Department of Corrections. 

�
Question 64. Are restraints used for the safety of staff or resident on the SPU and RTU?  If 

so, will NHDOC please provide number of hours residents of the SPU or 
RTU spent in restraint per 1000 resident hours by month for each of the last 
two years?  

Answer 64. Restraints are used but the data regarding use is Quality Improvement 
data and will not be released pursuant to RSA 151.   

Question 65. Are any academic affiliation agreements in place which involves placements 
of  students in any of the psychiatric services covered by this contract?  If so, 
please indicate the academic institutions and the number and types of students 
involved.
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Answer 65. We receive numerous inquiries for academic affiliations but have not 
finalized any formal psychiatric service affiliations at this time. 

Question 66. Please provide the number of inmates that are non-English speaking broken 
down by language of preference and facility?  

Answer 66. As all Correctional facilities are required, we provide translation services 
as needed for all non-English speaking inmates and patients. 

Question 67. Please provide any available schedules of psychiatric services by facility and 
day of the week?  

Answer 67. Psychiatric and mental health services are available Monday through 
Friday at all sites with on-call services for weekends and holidays. 

Question 68. Are any employees of the current Contractor unionized?  Is so, please provide 
information on which staff and their position, which union(s) represent them, 
and a copy of the union agreement(s). Additionally, if any employees are 
represented by a union(s), please confirm that vendors may contact state 
personnel services for copies of union contracts. 

Answer 68. No.

Question 69. Please provide the total annual budget allocation for all requested services, 
broken down by Treatment Services Section, for each of the past 5 years.  

Answer 69. Reference http://www.nh.gov/nhdoc/divisions/publicinformation/index.html
specifically annual reports for statistics regarding staffing, budget, 
expenditures, etc. 

Question 70. Please provide the total annual amount that was paid and the number of 
contract FTEs to the current Contractor for each of the past four years.

Answer 70. 

Contract Year Total FTEs Total Annual Amount 
2009 23.8 $4,186,461.00
2010 23.8 $4,216,940.00
2011 23.8 $4,365,167.00
2012 23.8 $4,518,604.00



 

Promoting Public Safety through Integrity, Respect, Professionalism, Accountability and Collaboration 

State of NH, Department of Corrections                      RFP 13-01-GFMED, closing date: 3/29/2013 
Division of Medical and Forensic Services 

Vendor Initials: _______

Question 71. Please provide the deaths by suicide at each location for each of the past three 
years? 

Answer 71.  2012 1 NHSP-Men 
  2011 2 NHSP-Men      1  NHSP-Women 
  2010 0 

Question 72. Does NHDOC expect to have any of its own mental health staff following the 
award of this contract?  If so, will NHDOC please provide a list of those job 
titles, total FTEs for those job titles and the facilities where those positions 
will be located?

Answer 72. Yes.  This same information was asked in question #13. 

Question 73. Please provide the scoring evaluation of bidders that submitted proposals in 
response to the Department’s 2007 RFP for Inpatient and Outpatient 
Psychiatric Services. 

Answer 73. See attachment.


